
THREE RIVERS MONTESSORI CHARTER SCHOOL 
Regular Board Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, November 21st, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 
Meeting held at Three Rivers Montessori: 17267 Yale St NW, Elk River MN 55330

Sent to OW - 11/16/2023 | Placed on Website - 11/16/2023 

I. CALL TO ORDER by Chairperson: 

II. ROLL CALL + DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST

1. Board Members Present + Declarations: 
2. Board Members Absent: 
3. Other Attendees: 

III. REVIEW OF TRM MISSION & VISION STATEMENTS 

Mission: Empowering students to reach their full potential through authentic Montessori learning.
Vision: Academic Excellence * Community Engagement * Environmental Stewardship

IV. APPROVAL OF MEETING AGENDA 

1. ACTION ITEMS:
a. APPROVAL: Tonight’s Meeting Agenda

V. CONSENT AGENDA

1. ACTION ITEMS:
a. APPROVAL: TRM Regular Board Meeting Minutes 10/16/23
b. APPROVAL: Accept resignation of Cassie Zezulka as a TRM board member
c. APPROVAL: Non-Discrimination Policy (Updated to include pregnancy language)
d. APPROVAL: Board Member Code of Ethics Policy (Updated to include core

values language)
e. APPROVAL: Board Reflection Policy: (Updated to include core values language)

VI. PUBLIC COMMENTS

VI. FINANCE COMMITTEE

a. October Month End Financials
i. ACTION ITEM: Approve Prior Month Financial Report
ii. ACTION ITEM: Approve Prior Month Expenditures

VII. INFORMATION ITEMS

1. Montessori Training with Anna Nation
2. Enrollment Update
3. Staffing Update
4. Building Update including Fire Marshal Inspection Report and MDH Food Inspection

Report
5. Fall Family Survey Results
6. Fall Staff Survey Results



IX. DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. APPROVAL: Increase in line of credit from $75,000.00 to $200,000.00 with the Bank of
Elk River

2. APPROVAL: CSDC Lease Amendment
3. OW Site Visit Report
4. OW Board Observation Feedback
5. Policy Reviews

a. Credit Card Policy (update)
b. Consent Agenda Policy (New Policy)
c. Use of Peace Officers and Crisis Teams to Remove Students With IEP’s From

School Grounds Policy Policy (New Policy, State Mandated; TRM’s legal team at
Ratwik, Roszak, & Maloney wrote this policy, should go unchanged)

d. Student Data Privacy Policy(New Policy, Authorizer Mandated; TRM’s legal team
at Ratwik, Roszak, & Maloney wrote this policy, should go unchanged)

e. Malicious and Sadistic Conduct Policy (New Policy, State Mandated; HR
reviewed draft policy and as far as we know, no one has had this policy
previously)

X. REVIEW OF NEXT MEETING DATE

1. Date, Time, Location of Next Regular Board Meeting - Tuesday, December 21st, 2023 6:00
p.m. Location: At Three Rivers Montessori

2. Agenda Items Request or Send to Board Chair

XI. ADJOURNMENT

1.

Board Approved:



THREE RIVERS MONTESSORI CHARTER SCHOOL 
Regular Board Meeting Agenda 

Monday, October 16th, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 
Meeting held at Three Rivers Montessori: 17267 Yale St NW, Elk River MN 55330

Sent to OW - 10/11/2023 | Placed on Website - 10/11/2023 

I. CALL TO ORDER by Chairperson: Call to order at 6:04pm Monday October 16th, welcome
everybody

II. ROLL CALL + DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST

1. Board Members Present + Declarations: Cassie Zezulka, no conflicts; Nikki Patterson,
no conflicts; Brooke, no conflicts; Chris Castagneri, no conflicts; Josh Green, no conflicts

2. Board Members Absent: Lydia Skadberg, Tim Eilrich
3. Other Attendees: Antonio Kuklok, Ex-Offcio; Tim, evaluator for Osprey Wilds,

independent contractor; Anna Nation, Director of Teaching and Learning; Mindy Wachter,
Bergan KDV

III. REVIEW OF TRM MISSION & VISION STATEMENTS 

Mission: Empowering students to reach their full potential through authentic Montessori learning.
Vision: Academic Excellence * Community Engagement * Environmental Stewardship

IV. APPROVAL OF MEETING AGENDA 

1. ACTION ITEMS:
a. APPROVAL: Tonight’s Meeting Agenda

i. Motion to Approve: Brooke Blomker
ii. Motion Seconded: Josh Green
iii. Discussion: None
iv. Vote: Unanimous, Motion Carried

V. CONSENT AGENDA

1. ACTION ITEMS:
a. APPROVAL: TRM Regular Board Meeting Minutes 09/19/23

i. Motion to Approve: Brooke Blomker
ii. Motion Seconded: Josh Green
iii. Discussion: None
iv. Vote: Unanimous, Motion Carried

b. APPROVAL: Attendance Policy
i. Motion to Approve: Brooke Blomker
ii. Motion Seconded: Josh Green
iii. Discussion: None
iv. Vote: Unanimous, Motion Carried

c. APPROVAL: Updated Non-Discrimination Policy
i. Motion to Approve:
ii. Motion Seconded:
iii. Discussion:
iv. Vote: Tabled, bring back in November after adding language about

pregnant employees
d. APPROVAL: Updated Student Withdrawal Policy

i. Motion to Approve: Josh Green



ii. Motion Seconded: Nikki Patterson
iii. Discussion: None
iv. Vote: Unanimous, Motion Carried

e. APPROVAL: 2022-2023 Combined World’s Best Workforce & Annual Report
i. Motion to Approve: Brooke Blomker
ii. Motion Seconded: Cassie Zezulka
iii. Discussion: None
iv. Vote: Unanimous, motion carried

VI. PUBLIC COMMENTS

None

VI. FINANCE COMMITTEE

a. September Month End Financials
i. ACTION ITEM: Approve Prior Month Financial Report

1. Motion to Approve: Josh Green
2. Motion Seconded: Brooke Blomker
3. Discussion: None
4. Vote: Unanimous vote, motion carried

ii. ACTION ITEM: Approve Prior Month Expenditures
1. Motion to Approve: Brooke Blomker
2. Motion Seconded: Josh Green
3. Discussion: None
4. Vote: Unanimous, motion carried

b. Financial Audit Presentation
i. ACTION ITEM: Approve FY 23 Financial Audit

1. Motion to Approve: Nikki Patterson
2. Motion Seconded: Cassie Zezulka
3. Discussion: None
4. Vote: Unanimous, motion carried

VII. INFORMATION ITEMS

1. Enrollment Update
2. Staffing Update
3. NWEA Map Fall Testing Update
4. Academic Update with Anna Nation

IX. DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. Policy Reviews
a. Chemical Use and Abuse Policy - Add Brooke’s notes and contact Kara

regarding the process if we don’t implement testing language
b. Board Member Code of Ethics Policy - Add in TRM Board values language
c. Board Reflection Policy - Add in TRM Board values language; change Audubon

to Osprey on final bullet point
2. Montessori Training - Discussion around the realities of training. Teacher board

members spoke and gave their perspectives on the difficulties of training while teaching.
Board agreed this would continue to be an ongoing discussion.

3. PreK/Children’s House: Have a teacher and materials, board vote to move forward for
the 23’-24’ SY

a. ACTION ITEM: Approve the start of a children’s house for the 23-24 SY as long
as we have 10 participants: Chris declares she does work for another preschool



in town and may pose a conflict of interest. Chris has chosen to abstain from this
vote.

i. Motion to Approve: Nikki Patterson
ii. Motion Seconded: Cassie Zezulka
iii. Discussion: None
iv. Vote: All in favor accept Chris Castagneri who has abstained. The motion

passes.

X. REVIEW OF NEXT MEETING DATE

1. Date, Time, Location of Next Regular Board Meeting - Tuesday, November 21st, 2023 6:00
p.m. Location: At Three Rivers Montessori

2. Agenda Items Request or Send to Board Chair

XI. ADJOURNMENT

1. ACTION ITEM: Motion to Adjourn
a. Motion to Approve: Nikki Patterson
b. Motion Seconded: Brooke Blomker
c. Discussion: None
d. Vote: Unanimous, motion carried, meeting adjourned at 8:21pm











Three Rivers Montessori
Elk River, Minnesota

District 4266

Financial Statements

October 31, 2023

FY2019 Data Based on Audited Data



Three Rivers Montessori 
Elk River, Minnesota 

October 2023 Financial Statements 
Executive Summary 

 
 
Summary of Key Financial Indicators 
 

 Average Daily Membership (ADM) Overview –  
o Original Budget: 167 
o Working Budget: 99 
o Actual:  100 

 The School’s projected deficit for the year is ($206,110). This would result in a projected 
cumulative fund balance of $74,717 or 3.7% of expenditures at fiscal year‐end. 

 
Financial Statement Key Points 
 

 As of month‐end, 33.3% of the year was complete. 

 Cash Balance as of the reporting period is $246,022, down from the previous month of 
$299,940. This was due to MDE adjusting you ADM to 143, we didn’t go all the way 
down to 100 for cash flow purposes. 

 Revenues received at end of the reporting period – 32.17% 

 Expenditures disbursed at end of the reporting period – 26.22% 
 
 
Other Items 
 

 

 FY24 Lease aid needs to be completed soon to assist with cash flow. Please watch your 
email for your applicable conflict of interest form. The Board Chair and Executive 
Director will sign the rest of the application. 
 

 
 
 
 
Supplemental Information (see separate attachments) 
 
A  separate  report  is provided  that  shows  the payment detail,  receipts  that were posted and 
journal entry transaction that were recorded during the month (if any).  
 
 
Please contact Mindy Wachter at mindy.wachter@bergankdv.com or 612-227-7793 should you have any questions 
related to the financial statements. 

Prepared by Creative Planning Page 2



Resources to Operate Programs (Revenues): Funds Used to Provide Programs and Services (Expenses):

Approved Budget Approved Budget

Working Budget Working Budget

Year to Date 32.17% Year to Date 26.22%

Balance 67.83% 73.78%

Where funds will come from to operate the school:

Excess / Deficit

Three Rivers Montessori

Elk River, Minnesota

Financial Statements Dashboard

As of October 31, 2023

Financial Summary ‐ Budgeted Amounts and Year to Date Activity

$586,121 $531,748 $54,374

$2,299,131 $2,215,565 $83,566

$1,821,736 $2,027,845 ($206,110)

$1,235,614 $1,496,098

Budgets for the Year

How the money is budgeted to be spent:

Fund Balance History

State Revenues
90%

Federal Revenues
6%

Local Revenues
4%

Salaries and Wages
31%

Employee Benefits
8%

Purchased Services
25%

Supplies and 
Materials

5%

Facilities and 
Equipment

0% Special Ed, CARES 
& Title Programs

30%

Dues and 
Memberships; 
Fees; Other 
Expenses…

32% 26%

‐10.00%

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

(70,000)

130,000

330,000

530,000

18‐19 19‐20 20‐21 21‐22 22‐23

Annual Surplus/Deficit Fund Balance % of Expenditures

Year to 
Date

Year to 
Date

Prepared by Creative Planning Page 3



Cash Balance Projection

Current Year Financial Trend

Current Year Student Enrollment Summary

Enrollment History

95

105

115

125

135

145

155

165

8/31 10/1 10/31 11/30 12/31 1/31 2/28 3/31 4/30 5/31 EOY

ADM (Funding) Membership (Enrollment) Budgeted Enrollment

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June
Revenues Expenses Year to Date

 ‐

 20.00

 40.00

 60.00

 80.00

 100.00

 120.00

 140.00

 160.00

 180.00

20‐21 21‐22 22‐23

K‐6

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

$200,000

$250,000

$300,000

$350,000

Ju
l 3
1

A
u
g 3

1

Sep
t 3

0

O
ct 3

1

N
o
v 3

0

D
ec 3

1

Jan
 3
1

Feb
 2
8

M
ar 3

1

A
p
r 3

0

M
ay 3

1

Ju
n
e

3
0

Prepared by Creative Planning Page 4



Audited Balance 

7‐1‐2023

Month Ending 

Balance    

Assets
Current Assets

101 Main Bank 171,912$            246,022$           
101 Savings Bank 400                      ‐                          
115 Accounts receivable 1,327                   ‐                          
121 State aids receivable 126,116              4,952                  

Current year state holdback 77,236               
122 Federal aids receivable through MDE 50,530                18,753               
131 Prepaid expenses 14,397                ‐                          

Total all assets 364,682$            346,962$           

Liabilities and Fund Balance
Current Liabilities

201 Salaries and wages payable 28,639$              6,910$               
206 Accounts payable 33,093                ‐                          
215 Payroll deductions and contributions payable 19,908                4,851                  
230 Deferred revenue ‐ lunch accounts 2,215                   ‐                          

Total liabilities 83,855                11,761               

Fund Balance
Unreserved fund balance 252,123              252,123             

Nonspendable fund balance (inventories, prepaids) 14,397                14,397               

Reserved Fund Balance ‐ MA Billing 278                      278                     

Restriced fund balance ‐ Community Service 14,029                14,029               
Net income to date ‐                           54,374               

Total fund balance 280,827              335,201             

Total liabilities and fund balance 364,682$            346,962$           

Three Rivers Montessori
Elk River, Minnesota

Balance Sheet
As of October 31, 2023

This financial report is prepared in a modified format in that they exclude footnotes and required 

supplementary information in order to be considered a full set of financial statements. The excluded 

portions will be included in the School’s fiscal year end financial statements. Creative Planning is not 

a licensed CPA firm and no CPA provides any assurance on this financial report.  

Prepared by Creative Planning Page 5



Months to Date 4 33.33%

2023‐2024

Original 

Budget

2023‐2024 

Working 

Budget

2023‐2024 

Year to Date 

Actual

Year to Date 

Percent of 

Working 

Budget

167 99 100.00 101.01%

Weighted Average Daily Membership 167.00 99.00 100.00 101.01%

General Fund ‐ 01
Revenues

State Revenues
211 General education aid 1,276,007      887,357         390,032         43.95%
212 Literacy incentive aid 12,811           12,811           ‐                      0.00%
201 Endowment fund apportionment 7,243             7,243             4,226             58.34%

348‐300 Charter school lease aid 219,438         130,086         ‐                      0.00%
317 Long‐term facilities maintenance revenue 22,044           13,068           ‐                      0.00%
360 Special education aid 482,089         516,966         63,941           12.37%
343 Library aid ‐                      19,933           ‐                      0.00%

373 Student support aid ‐                      19,745           ‐                      0.00%
071 Medical assistance billing revenue ‐                      1,000             301                 30.13%
999 Prior year over/under accrual 60,000           20,000           ‐                      0.00%

Estimated state holdback ‐                      ‐                      77,236          
Total state revenues 2,079,632      1,628,210      535,736         32.90%

Federal Revenues
401 414 Title programs 2,078             17,420           ‐                      0.00%
419 425 Special education aid 27,522           27,522           3,153             11.46%
499 CRF/CARES 12,661           15,600           15,600           100.00%

Total federal revenues 42,262           60,542           18,753           30.97%
Local Revenues

    Deposits without documentation ‐                     
050     Fees collected 8,245             8,245             3,053             37.03%
096     Gifts and donations 3,521             3,521             ‐                      0.00%
099     Other local revenues 11,138           21,138           10,000           47.31%
621     Sales of materials purchased for resale 1,000             1,000             ‐                      0.00%

Total local revenues 23,904           33,904           13,053           38.50%
Total revenues 2,145,798$   1,722,656$   567,542$       32.95%

Expenditures
General Fund

100 Salaries 700,448         595,057         134,025         22.52%
200 Benefits 168,759         147,732         39,309           26.61%

Projected salaries and benefits payable 11,713          
Total salaries, wages, and benefits payable 869,207         742,788         185,047         24.91%

305 Contracted services 214,200         214,200         62,042           28.96%
315 Contracted technology services 2,000             4,000             1,240             31.00%
320 Communications services 5,100             5,100             1,435             28.14%
329 Postage 1,231             1,231             ‐                      0.00%
330 Utilities cost 24,627           24,627           7,753             31.48%
340 Property and liability insurance 15,245           15,245           4,237             27.79%
350 Repairs and maintenance 10,261           10,261           7,842             76.43%
360 Contracted transportation ‐ Field Trips 410                 1,000             479                 47.85%
366 Travel, conferences and staff training 3,899             13,899           12,915           92.92%
369 Field trips and other student fees 257                 1,500             930                 62.00%

348‐370 Building lease cost 258,003         198,003         85,400           43.13%
335 Other rentals and operating leases 3,078             1,020             340                 33.33%
380 Computer and tech related hardware rentals 5,131             8,142             3,490             42.87%
401 Supplies ‐ non instructional 19,753           11,900           7,964             66.93%
405 Non instructional software and license fees 8,869             13,400           11,077           82.66%
406 Instructional software and license fees 3,592             3,592             1,770             49.28%
430 Instructional supplies 12,314           7,446             1,028             13.81%
455 Non‐instructional technology supplies 7,696             4,654             69                   1.48%
456 Instructional technology supplies 1,026             620                 300                 48.27%
460 Textbooks and workbooks 2,000             1,209             ‐                      0.00%

461 Standardized Tests 1,491             4,450             5,031             113.05%

Three Rivers Montessori
Elk River, Minnesota

Summary Revenue and Expense Statement
As of October 31, 2023

Projected Enrollment 

This financial report is prepared in a modified format in that they exclude footnotes and required supplementary information in order 

to be considered a full set of financial statements. The excluded portions will be included in the School’s fiscal year end financial 

statements. Creative Planning is not a licensed CPA firm and no CPA provides any assurance on this financial report.  

Prepared by Creative Planning Page 6



Months to Date 4 33.33%

2023‐2024

Original 

Budget

2023‐2024 

Working 

Budget

2023‐2024 

Year to Date 

Actual

Year to Date 

Percent of 

Working 

Budget

466 Instructional technology devices 2,565             1,551             695                 44.80%
490 Food purchased (not for food service) 3,078             3,078             437                 14.18%
530 Other equipment purchased 5,131             5,131             1,038             20.22%
740 Interest on sale of receivables / line of credit 1,539             1,539             ‐                      0.00%
820 Dues and memberships 20,715           20,715           9,128             44.07%
899 Transactions without documentation ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      0.00%

Subtotal general fund expenditures 1,502,421          1,320,304          411,686             31.18%

Title Programs
100 Salaries  ‐                      14,620           ‐                      0.00%
200 Benefits ‐                      2,414             ‐                      0.00%
366 Travel, conferences and staff training 2,078             ‐                      ‐                      0.00%
401 Supplies ‐ non Instructional ‐                      386                 ‐                      0.00%

Subtotal title programs expenditures 2,078                 17,420               ‐                          0.00%

State Special Education
100 Salaries 324,069         352,643         53,327           15.12%
200 Benefits 76,187           84,326           16,175           19.18%
394 Special education fees for services 102,614         102,614         8,103             7.90%
401 Supplies ‐ non instructional 1,026             1,026             ‐                      0.00%
405 Non instructional software and license fees ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      0.00%
433 Individualized instructional materials 2,565             2,565             ‐                      0.00%
466 Instructional technology devices 1,000             1,000             ‐                      0.00%

Subtotal state special education expenditures 507,462             544,175             77,606               14.26%

Federal Special Education
303 Federal contracted services < $25,000 26,373           26,373           ‐                      0.00%
366 Travel, conferences and staff training ‐                      ‐                      1,395             0.00%
401 Supplies ‐ non instructional 1,149             1,149             ‐                      0.00%
405 Non instructional software ‐                      ‐                      1,186             0.00%
433 Individualized instructional materials ‐                      ‐                      572                 0.00%

Subtotal federal special education expenditures 27,522               27,522               3,153                 11.46%

Federal CRF/CARES
100 Salaries 9,120             13,890           13,889           99.99%
200 Benefits 1,541             1,685             1,685             100.03%
303 Federal contracted services < $25,000 ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      0.00%
401 Supplies ‐ non instructional 500                 25                   25                   100.08%
433 Individualized instructional materials 1,000             ‐                      ‐                      0.00%
490 Food purchased (not for food service) 500                 ‐                      ‐                      0.00%

Subtotal federal CRF/CARES expenditures 12,661               15,600               15,600               100.00%

Subtotal all expenditures 2,052,145      1,925,021      508,044         26.39%
Transfer to food service fund ‐                      11,364           ‐                     

Total expenditures 2,052,145$   1,936,384$   508,044$       26.24%

General fund net income 93,653$         (213,728)$     59,498$        

Food Services Fund ‐ 02
Revenues

300     State revenues 6,533$           10,000$         3,560$           35.60%
400     Federal revenues 85,170$         45,450$         2,828             6.22%
474     USDA commodities received ‐$                    ‐$                    ‐                      0.00%
600s     Sales of lunches, breakfasts, and milk ‐$                    ‐$                    191                 0.00%

Subtotal revenues 91,703           55,450           6,579             11.86%
Transfer from General Fund ‐                      11,364           ‐                     

Total revenues 91,703$         66,814$         6,579$           9.85%

Expenditures
100 Salaries 19,000           11,970           3,241             27.08%

200 Benefits 5,611             1,897             491                 25.88%

300 Purchased services 1,530             1,530             133                 8.69%
401 Supplies and materials 2,052             2,052             469                 22.83%

490/495 Food and milk 81,578           49,328           9,461             19.18%
491 Federal commodities used ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      0.00%
820 Dues, memberships, other fees ‐                      36                   831                 0.00%

Total expenditures 109,772$       66,814$         14,625$         21.89%

Food services fund net income (18,069)$        ‐$                    (8,046)$         

This financial report is prepared in a modified format in that they exclude footnotes and required supplementary information in order 

to be considered a full set of financial statements. The excluded portions will be included in the School’s fiscal year end financial 

statements. Creative Planning is not a licensed CPA firm and no CPA provides any assurance on this financial report.  

Prepared by Creative Planning Page 7



Months to Date 4 33.33%

2023‐2024

Original 

Budget

2023‐2024 

Working 

Budget

2023‐2024 

Year to Date 

Actual

Year to Date 

Percent of 

Working 

Budget

Community Services Fund ‐ 04
Revenues

50 Before and After care fees 61,630$         32,266$         12,001           37.19%
Subtotal revenues 61,630           32,266           12,001           37.19%

Transfer from General Fund ‐                      0                     ‐                     
Total revenues 61,630$         32,266$         12,001$         37.19%

Expenditures
100 Salaries 43,782           19,250           7,784             40.43%

200 Benefits 7,971             3,502             1,197             34.19%

300 Purchased services 1,020             1,020             ‐                      0.00%
401 Supplies and materials 875                 875                 98                   11.16%

Total expenditures 53,648$         24,647$         9,079$           36.83%

Community services fund net income 7,982$           7,619$           2,922$          

Total All Funds
Revenues

State revenues 2,086,165$   1,638,210$   539,296$       32.92%
Federal revenues 127,432         105,992         21,580           20.36%
Local revenues 85,535           66,170           25,245           38.15%
Fund transfers ‐                      11,364           ‐                     

Total revenues 2,299,131$   1,821,736$   586,121$       32.17%

Expenditures
Salaries and wages 1,096,419$   1,007,430$   223,978$       22.23%
Employee benefits 260,069         241,556         58,859           24.37%
Purchased services 677,060         629,767         197,735         31.40%
Supplies and materials 154,631         110,308         40,180           36.43%
Facilities and equipment 5,131             5,131             1,038             0.00%
Dues and memberships; fees; other expenses 20,715           20,751           9,959             47.99%
Other program costs ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      0.00%

Total expenditures 2,215,565$   2,027,845$   531,748$       26.22%

Total revenues all funds 2,299,131$   1,821,736$   586,121$       32.17%
Total expenditures all funds 2,215,565      2,027,845      531,748         26.22%

Net income ‐ all funds 83,566$         (206,110)$     54,374$        

Beginning fund balance, district wide 280,827 280,827 280,827

Ending fund balance, district wide 364,393 74,717 335,201

This financial report is prepared in a modified format in that they exclude footnotes and required supplementary information in order 

to be considered a full set of financial statements. The excluded portions will be included in the School’s fiscal year end financial 

statements. Creative Planning is not a licensed CPA firm and no CPA provides any assurance on this financial report.  

Prepared by Creative Planning Page 8



State Aid 

Payments

Federal Aid 

Payments

Other 

Receipts

Line of 

Credit 

Draw

Prior Year 

State and 

Federal 

Receivable

Total 

Receipts

Salaries 

and 

Benefits  

(Net)

Other 

Expenses ‐ 

AP

Payments 

Made on 

Line of 

Credit

Total 

Expenses

Jul 1 Beginning Balance 172,312$     

Jul 31 127,595            ‐                  3,166         ‐                  49,886       180,647        34,175        71,908         ‐                  106,084         246,876        

Aug 31 127,810            ‐                  1,595         ‐                  43,043       172,447        36,597        119,271       ‐                  155,868         263,455        

Sept 30 127,919            ‐                  15,788       ‐                  44,228       187,934        51,196        100,254       ‐                  151,450         299,940        

Oct 31 74,875              6,388         6,506         ‐                  34,538       122,306        59,910        116,314       ‐                  176,224         246,022        

Nov 30 113,596            6,763         5,909         ‐                  ‐                  126,268        65,000        112,000       ‐                  177,000         121,580        

Dec 31 113,459            6,763         5,909         ‐                  ‐                  126,131        65,000        110,000       ‐                  175,000         72,710           

Jan 31 52,754              18,763       5,909         100,000     4,104         181,530        65,000        112,000       ‐                  177,000         77,241           

Feb 28 123,215            6,763         5,909         50,000       580             186,467        65,000        110,000       ‐                  175,000         88,708           

Mar 31 123,215            6,763         5,909         ‐                  ‐                  135,887        65,000        112,000       ‐                  177,000         47,595           

Apr 30 123,215            18,763       5,909         ‐                  13,947       161,834        65,000        112,000       ‐                  177,000         32,429           

May 31 123,215            6,763         5,909         25,000       ‐                  160,887        65,000        112,000       ‐                  177,000         16,317           

June 30 123,215            6,763         5,909         ‐                  100,000     235,887        65,000        100,000       50,000       215,000         37,204           

Totals 1,354,085        84,489       74,327       ‐                  290,326     1,803,227    701,878      1,287,748    ‐                  1,989,625     37,204           

Projected Cash Flow for FY2024-2025
Jul 31 135,000            5,000         4,000         ‐                  10,000       154,000        34,500        71,908         25,000       131,408         59,795           

Aug 31 135,000            5,000         2,000         ‐                  65,446       207,446        40,000        125,000       25,000       190,000         77,242           

Sept 30 135,000            10,000       7,000         ‐                  37,835       189,835        75,000        125,000       50,000       250,000         17,076           

Oct 31 135,000            20,000       7,000         ‐                  25,223       187,223        75,000        125,000       25,000       200,000         4,300             

Assumptions: 10% State Aid Holdback

This financial report is prepared in a modified format in that they exclude footnotes and required supplementary information in order to be considered a full set of financial statements. The 

excluded portions will be included in the School’s fiscal year end financial statements. Creative Planning is not a licensed CPA firm and no CPA provides any assurance on this financial report.  

Three Rivers Montessori

Cash Flow Projection Summary

2023‐2024 School Year

Period 

Ending

Cash Inflows (Revenues) Cash Outflows (Expenditures)

Cash Balance

Prepared by Creative Planning Page 9



Supplemental Information

October 31, 2023

Three Rivers Montessori

Elk River, Minnesota

District 4266



Prepared by Creative Planning Page 2



Prepared by Creative Planning Page 3



Prepared by Creative Planning Page 4



Prepared by Creative Planning Page 5



Prepared by Creative Planning Page 6



Kindergarten 19

1st Grade 17

2nd Grade 20

3rd Grade 12

4th Grade 18

5th Grade 12

6th Grade 3

TOTAL 101

November Director Updates

ENROLLMENT UPDATE

One Social Worker opening
One additional paraprofessional added due to increase in
caseload
One SPED Coordinator (Emma Olson resigned 11/01/23)

STAFFING UPDATE
1.
2.

3.



BUILDING UPDATE

The State Fire Marshall performed an inspection
on 11/06/2023. The report noted no violations
and a clean report. TRM did have Nardini Fire
also do an inspection and added two additional
Fire Extinguishers to increase coverage and
access in the event of a fire.
The Minnesota Department of Health did a
surprise or “drop in” inspection of our food
service program. They also found no violations
and issued a clean report. 
The front door is malfunctioning and we are
looking into a permanent fix with Capital City
Glass.
TRM staff completed A.L.I.C.E. Safety Training
with the Elk River Police Department on
Monday, November 13th, 2023. This counts
toward our lock down drill requirements for the
year. 
The Willow classroom is being shifted from a flex
space back to a classroom space after Fall break.
Our new Children’s House teacher, Paige
Lundeen, will work to set the classroom up as a
preschool space for a 01/02/2024 Children’s
House start.



FALL FAMILY SURVEY RESULTS

39 responses out of 79 families                                      
(cannot guarantee that responses didn’t come
from members of the same family as survey
was anonymous) 

Estimated 49% family response rate

Question 1: How likely is it that you would recommend Three
Rivers to a friend or colleague?

1 = Not at all

5 = Extremely Likely

Question 2: I am satisfied with the classroom environment and
materials provided at TRM.

16

18

3

2

7.7%

5.1%



Question 4: My child enjoys school.

16

2
1

2.6%

5.1%

Question 5: I understand the school's academic expectations
for my child.

3
1

2.6%

7.7%

2

5.1%

21

12

20

15
1

1

18

4 2.6%

Question 3: I am satisfied with the facilities at TRM.

2.6%15 10.3%



3
1

2
1

2.6%

2.6%

1

5.1%

19

16

2

2.6%

7.7%

16

12

Question 6: I am informed of my child's progress on a regular basis..

Question 7: I am aware of opportunities to be involved with
the school throughout the year.

2

15

12

8
5.1%

5.1%

Question 8: I feel my child gets the support they need at school.

7

2
15

1



2
2

5.1%

5.1%

15

18

Question 9: TRM staff work to ensure my child is reaching
their full potential in a caring Montessori environment.

Question 10: I know how to get school information when I need it.

7

2
5.1%

1
2.6%

16

15

2.6%

1

6

Individual Comments Follow



TRM has been great for us! This is our first time, being a Kindergartener
family, very very happy! My daughter is sad at the end of the day, because she
has to leave school. She loves it! Staff is amazing!
 I have been disappointed with the lack of consistency among faculty and
staff. I understand that staffing has been difficult for TRM and many other
schools, but one of the benefits of Montessori is that students tend to have
the same teacher for multiple years--my son has never had the same teacher
more than once.
 Last year I felt that he was not working at the top of his potential but wasn't
pushed to move beyond basics because he was meeting course outcomes.
However, the teacher he is working with this year seems to be better at
motivating him to work at the top of his abilities.
 The end time of school makes it very difficult to pick him up as a working
parent. We live outside of the Elk River school district and need to drive our
child to school. My husband and I work from home so we have some flexibility
with our schedules, but needing to pick him up by 2 is difficult with meetings,
etc. We decided that we would make it work for this year because it is his final
year at TRM, but if he was going to stay for multiple school years we would
need to find an alternative option.
Our kids are happy to be at TRM and I love that they enjoy going which says a
lot about their experience. Child 1 and Child 2 both come home with materials
that they are eager to share with us each week. We appreciate the weekly
feedback from school and how quick administration is to respond to questions
and requests. (names removed for privacy)
 So far so good!
 I have noticed a slight change thus far in both of boys' attendance at a
Montessori school. Montessori is new however and as far as learning goes, I
wish I could look in a system where the children are at with school work.
Other than that, I love hearing how helpful and kind they are while at school.
 My child loves it here (smiley face written in)
 Kids are motivated by different things, & sometimes motivation comes from
discipline, reward, or consequence. Please don't expect very young kids to be
100% self motivated. Many adults can't even self-motivate. I do love
Montessori's approach to learning, but I wouldn't be opposed to more
teaching of discipline or use of reward/consequence as motivation.
 We are very concerned about all the turn around with staff that has been
happening. I know some of it has been explained but we are not truly sold on
the explanation. We also would like more feed back on how our child is doing.
The only time we hear anything is conferences. I'm disappointed on not having
the book fair at conferences as well.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.
7.

8.
9.

10.



1

FALL STAFF SURVEY RESULTS

13 out of 22 staff responded                                      
59% response rate

Question 1: How likely is it that you would recommend
working at Three Rivers Montessori to a friend or colleague?

1 = Not at all

5 = Extremely Likely

Question 2: I know what is expected of me at work.

7

5



2

Question 3: I have the resources I need to do my job effectively.

Question 4: In the last seven days I have received recognition
or praise for doing good work from another staff member
and/or my supervisor.

2

7

3

1

7.7%

7.7%

Question 5: At work, my opinions seem to count.

2

7

1
1

2

1

1

7.7%

6

5

2



8

4

1

8

4

1

Question 6: The mission of TRM is clear and I feel my work
leads to the mission.

Question 7: I am surrounded by individuals who are committed
to doing quality work.

Question 8: My supervisor is invested in my success.

5

2
5

1



3

5

1

Question 9: My supervisor has communicated with me about
my progress.

Question 10: I feel I have opportunities at Three Rivers
Montessori to learn, grow, and advance.

6

4 3

2
2



Inspection Date: 11/06/2023 Inspection Type: School-charter - Scheduled

Inspection No: 018621 Occupancy Class: E

ISD4266 Three Rivers Montessori Charter School 
17267 Yale Street Northwest
Elk River, MN 55330
Email:

*Property Use: ED - Charter elementary

No Occupant Loads Found

Kuklok, Antonio (Executive Director ) Work Phone: | Email: Antonio.kuklok@threeriversmontessori.org

McGinty, Kevin (State Inspector) Email/Cell: kevin.mcginty@state.mn.us (651) 888-9119

On the above date, an inspection was conducted for the purposes of fire and life safety. The following conditions were
observed that do not meet the minimum requirements of the Minnesota State Fire Code. Failure to correct identified fire and
life safety deficiencies in a timely manner is a criminal violation pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 299F.011, subd. 6. There is a variance
procedure available. Please contact the inspector named for further assistance.

No Violations Found

Notes: This is an interval fire inspection of an educational occupancy.
Charter School.

Please contact the inspector with any questions and once the above items have been completed. 

Documentation may be emailed (preferred method) to: Kevin.McGinty@state.mn.us

Printed: 11/06/2023 13:38

SFM Fire Inspection Report

Inspection Information

Facility Information

Occupant Loads

Primary Contact

Violations

Inspection Notes

End of Report

Page 1 of 1          



Minnesota Department of Health
Food, Pools & Lodging Services
P.O. Box 64975
St. Paul, MN 55164-0975
651-201-4500

7930231222

Page 1
11/08/23
11:06:00

Type:

Time:
Date:

Report:

Full         Food and Beverage Establishment 
       Inspection Report

The violations listed in this report include any previously issued orders and deficiencies identified 
during this inspection.  Compliance dates are shown for each item.

7634951213
54288

Three Rivers Montessori Charte
17267 Yale St NW              
Elk River, MN55330
Sherburne County, 71

12/31/23

No

Three Rivers Montessori Charte

Medium

HOSP,  FBLB,  FBC2,  FBSC,  FAIF

Risk:

Expires on:

Announced Inspection:

ID #: 0036539

ID #:

Location:

License Categories: Operator:

Establishment Info:

Phone #:

No NEW orders were issued during this inspection.

Surface and Equipment Sanitizers
Quaternary Ammonia: = 200PPM at  Degrees Fahrenheit
Location: SANITIZER BUCKET
Violation Issued: No

Quaternary Ammonia: = 200PPM at  Degrees Fahrenheit
Location: THREE COMPARTMENT SINK
Violation Issued: No

Food and Equipment Temperatures

Temperature: 168 Degrees Fahrenheit  - Location: HAMBURGER PATTY
Violation Issued: No

Process/Item: Steam Table

Temperature: 182 Degrees Fahrenheit  - Location: GREEN BEANS
Violation Issued: No

Process/Item: Steam Table

Temperature: 36 Degrees Fahrenheit  - Location: MILK
Violation Issued: No

Process/Item: Cold Line

Temperature: 37 Degrees Fahrenheit  - Location: HAM SUB
Violation Issued: No

Process/Item: Upright Cooler



7930231222

Page 2
11/08/23
11:06:00

Type:

Time:
Date:

Three Rivers Montessori Charte
Report:

Full         Food and Beverage Establishment 
       Inspection Report

FOOD CATERED IN FROM LISA'S CATERING OF OTSEGO.

 Priority 1 Priority 3
0 00

Priority 2Total Orders  In This Report

I acknowledge receipt of the Minnesota Department of Health inspection report
number 7930231222 of 11/08/23.

Certified Food Protection Manager:

Certification Number: Expires:

Katie J. Horner

113888 11/01/25

Signed: Signed:
Establishment Representative Tina Remmele, R.S.

Environmental Health Specialist
St. Cloud District Office
320-223-7302

NOTE:  Plans and specifications must be submitted for review and approval prior to new construction, remodeling or
alterations.

tina.remmele@state.mn.us

Inspection report reviewed with person in charge and emailed.



Minnesota Department of Health

Food Establishment Inspection Report

FOODBORNE ILLNESS RISK FACTORS AND PUBLIC HEALTH INTERVENTIONS

No. of RF/PHI Categories Out Date

Time In

Time Out

Telephone

Risk Category

No. of Repeat RF/PHI Categories Out

Legal Authority MN Rules Chapter 4626

Food, Pools & Lodging Services
P.O. Box 64975
St. Paul, MN 55164-0975

Address City/State Zip Code

License/Permit # Permit Holder Purpose of Inspection Est Type

Circle designated compliance status (IN, OUT, N/O, N/A) for each numbered item

IN= OUT= N/O= COS= R=in compliance not in compliance not observed corrected on-site during inspection repeat violationN/A= not applicable

Mark "X" in appropriate box for COS and/or R

11/08/23

11:06:00

Three Rivers Montessori Charte
17267 Yale St NW Elk River, MN 55330 7634951213

MFull0036539 Three Rivers Montessori Charte

Report #: 7930231222

0

0

Compliance Status COS R

1 IN OUT
Surpervision

Employee Health

Good Hygenic Practices

Preventing Contamination by Hands

Approved Source

Protection from Contamination

Consumer Advisory

Highly Susceptible Populations

Food and Color Additives and Toxic Substances

Conformance with Approved Procedures

Time/Temperature Control for Safety

IN OUT
IN OUT

Certified food protection manager, duties

3

4
Mgmt/Staff;knowledge,responsibilities&reporting
Proper use of reporting, restriction & exclusion

IN OUT N/A N/O

IN OUT N/O
IN OUT N/O

6

5

Proper eating, tasting, drinking, or tobacco use
No discharge from eyes, nose, & mouth

IN OUT N/O

IN OUT

8

7

10

Hands clean & properly washed
No bare hand contact with RTE foods or pre-approved
alternate pprocedure properly followed
Adequate handwashing sinks supplied/accessible

Food obtained from approved source

Food received at proper temperature

Food in good condition, safe, & unadulterated
Required records available; shellstock tags,
parasite destruction

IN OUT

IN OUT N/A N/O

IN OUT

IN OUT N/A N/O

11

12

13

14

Food separated and protected

Food contact surfaces: cleaned & sanitized
Proper disposition of returned, previously served,
reconditioned, & unsafe food

IN OUT N/A

IN OUT

IN OUT

15

16

17

N/A

GOOD RETAIL PRACTICES

Risk factors                     (RF) are improper practices or proceedures identified as the most 
prevalent contributing factors of foodborne illness or injury. 
(PHI) are control measures to prevent foodborne illness or injury. 

COS RCompliance Status

IN OUT N/O
IN OUT N/O

18
19

Proper cooking time & temperature
Proper reheating procedures for hot holding

IN OUT N/O

IN OUT N/O

20
21

Proper cooling time & temperature

Proper hot holding temperatures
22

23

24

IN OUT N/A N/O

N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
IN OUT N/A

IN OUT N/ON/A

Proper cold holding temperatures
Proper date marking & disposition
Time as a public health control: procedures & records

25 Consumer advisory provided for raw/undercooked food

26

Food additives: approved & properly used
Toxic substances properly identified, stored, & usedIN OUT

IN OUT N/A

Pasteurized foods used; prohibited foods not offered

27
28

29 Compliance with variance/specialized process/HACCPIN OUT N/A

 are preventative measures to control the addition of pathogens, chemicals, and physical objects into foods.
Mark "X" in box if numbered item is        in compliance Mark "X" in appropriate box for COS and/or R COS=corrected on-site during inspection R= repeat violationnot

COS R

Safe Food and Water
30 Pasteurized eggs used where required

Water & ice obtained from an approved source

Variance obtained for specialized processing methods

31

32

Food Temperature Control

33 Proper cooling methods used; adequate equipment for 
temperature control

Plant food properly cooked for hot holding

Approved thawing methods used

34

35

Thermometers provided & accurate36

37 Food properly labled; original container
Food Identification

38 Insects, rodents, & animals not present

Contamination prevented during food prep, storage & display

Personal cleanliness

39

40
Wiping cloths: properly used & stored

Washing fruits & vegetables

41

42

COS R

Proper Use of Utensils
43 In-use utensils: properly stored

Utensils, equipment & linens: properly stored, dried, & handled

Single-use/single service articles: properly stored & used

44

45

Utensil Equipment and Vending

47
Food & non-food contact surfaces cleanable, properly
designed, constructed, & used

Warewashing facilities: installed, maintained, & used; test strips

Non-food contact surfaces clean

48

49

54

53
Garbage & refuse properly disposed; facilities maintained

Toilet facilities: properly constructed, supplied, & cleaned
52

51

Sewage & waste water properly disposed

Plumbing installed; proper backflow devices

Hot & cold water available; adequate pressure50

46 Gloves used properly

Physical Facilities

Physical facilities installed, maintained, & clean

Adequate ventilation & lighting; designated areas used56

55

Compliance with MCIAA

Compliance with licensing & plan review58

57

Person in Charge (Signature) Date:

Inspector (Signature)

2 IN OUT
PIC knowledgeable; duties & oversight

Food Recalls:

N/A

Good Retail Practices

Public Health Interventions

11/08/23

Procedures for responding to vomiting & diarrheal 
eventsOUTIN

9

N/O

IN OUT N/A

IN OUT N/A

Prevention of Food Contamination

IN OUT N/A

IN OUT N/A

IN OUT N/A N/O

IN OUT N/A N/O



SECOND AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT OF LEASE

This Second Amendment to Agreement of Lease (this “Second Amendment”) is made and
entered into effective as of November 15, 2023 by and between CSDC Facilities Corporation, a District
of Columbia nonprofit corporation (“Landlord”), and Three Rivers Montessori, a Minnesota
nonprofit corporation (“Tenant”).

RECITALS

A. Landlord and Tenant are parties to that certain Agreement of Lease dated June 17, 2020,
as amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement of Lease dated as of May 17, 2021, and, as
amended by this Second Amendment, collectively, the “Lease”). Landlord has completed the
construction of the Landlord Improvements. Landlord and Tenant wish to amend the First Amendment to
Agreement of Lease by amending the schedule of Minimum Annual Base Rent attached hereto as Exhibit
A.

AMENDMENT

1. Minimum Base Rent. In Section 3.B., the Minimum Annual Base Rent will be as stated on
Exhibit A attached hereto. Additionally, the “Difference Added to Purchase Option Price” listed
in column D of Exhibit A, shall be deemed to be abated Base Annual Rent and added to the
Purchase Option Price as described in Section 3.J.

2. Miscellaneous.

Except as specifically stated herein, all other terms, conditions and provisions of
the Original Lease remain in full force and effect.

This First Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original (including copies sent to a party by facsimile or pdf transmission) as against
the party signing such counterpart, but which together shall constitute one and the same First
Amendment.

IN WITNESS of the foregoing the parties hereby agree to the foregoing.

LANDLORD: CSDC FACILITIES
CORPORATION

By: Michelle Prosperi
Its: Chief Operating Officer

TENANT: Three Rivers Charter School

By:
Its:

1



EXHIBIT A

BASE RENT

Lease Year

Annual
Minimum
Base Rent
Amount

Adjusted
Annual
Minimum
Base Rent
Amount

Difference
Added to
Purchase
Option Price

2023-2024 $258,003 $198,003 $60,000
2024-2025 $260,583 $210,000 $50,583
2025-2026 $263,189
2027-2028 $265,821
2028-2029 $268,479
2029-2030 $271,164
2030-2031 $273,875
2031-2032 $276,614
2032-2033 $279,380
2033-2034 $282,174
2034-2035 $284,996
2035-2036 $287,846
2036-2037 $290,724
2037-2038 $293,631
2038-2039 $296,568
2039-2040 $299,533
2040-2041 $302,529
2041-2042 $305,554
2042-2043 $308,610
2043-2044 $311,696
2044-2045 $314,813
2045-2046 $317,961

$110,583.03

Total added to
Total Project
Cost and
included in
Purchase Price.

D-1



OSPREY WILDS • CHARTER SCHOOL DIVISION 

1730 New Brighton Blvd, Suite 507, PMB 196 • Minneapolis, MN 55413 

(612) 331-4181 

The authorizing mission of Osprey Wilds is to ensure quality academic and environmental  

literacy outcomes for Minnesota students through effective charter school authorizing. 

 

 

11/10/23 

 

Board of Directors 

Chris Castagneri, Board Chair 

Antonio Kuklok, Executive Director 

Three Rivers Montessori 

17267 Yale Street NW 

Elk River, MN 55330 

 

re: OW Site Visit Follow-Up 

 

Dear Board of Directors, Chris, and Antonio, 

 

Thank you for hosting me on a site visit to Three Rivers Montessori (TRM) this October. I 

enjoyed being in your learning community and speaking with students and staff. As you know, 

these visits are an essential part of our authorizing work. They allow us to observe classrooms, 

tour the facility, and spend time meeting with staff, students, board members and others with 

whom we do not usually have the opportunity to engage. 

 

The information we gather from our visits helps inform the school’s Academic, Environmental 

Education, Financial, and Operations Performance Evaluations, and ultimately the Renewal 

Performance Evaluation and charter renewal. I want to communicate a few key observations that 

the board and school staff may consider to inform TRM’s continued improvement. Observations 

below are aligned to OW’s performance evaluation frameworks, which you can find on the OW 

website. 

 

 

Operations Indicator Area 1.1 Mission & Vision: Does the school demonstrate fidelity to the 

mission and vision outlined in the contract? 

 The school is fully staffed for this year, including a new Director of Teaching and 

Learning who is Montessori trained and has previous experience establishing Montessori 

schools. Under her guidance, the school is taking steps in becoming a high fidelity 

Montessori school, such as encouraging training in the method for all teachers and staff. 

The school is building a relationship with the Montessori Center of Minnesota and has 

secured three scholarships for additional Montessori training. The classroom 

environments are set up to facilitate learner engagement with materials, and students 

are generally following expectations with minimal redirection. The foundations of the 

program are evident in line with the school’s mission, and further training for staff will 

help refine the implementation of the model and support student achievement. 

https://ospreywilds.org/portfolio-item/performance-evaluation/
https://ospreywilds.org/portfolio-item/performance-evaluation/


 

 

 

Operations Indicator Area 1.2 Instruction & Assessment: Does the school implement 

instructional and assessment programming that focuses on student achievement? 

 

 This year TRM implemented a school wide behavior model. Before the start of the school 

year, all staff received two full days of training in Responsibility Centered Discipline. 

Artifacts of this system were visible throughout the school, such as notecards on 

teachers’ lanyards detailing the appropriate steps for engaging with students. There will 

be a follow up training on this approach later in the year. Staff reported that the 

development of shared language and expectations across the building has led to a more 

positive beginning to the school year with regard to managing student behaviors. During 

classroom observations, students were actively engaged in their learning and interacting 

respectfully with staff and each other. The core aspects of the behavior system are clear, 

with the school being emergent in its implementation. Future visits should look for the 

continued benefits of implementing the behavior system as it becomes more refined in 

practice. 

 

 The school is working to improve its literacy instruction. Data from FY23 indicated that 

this was a growth area. One teacher shared that they have a lot of reading groups for 

students who are behind in their skills, indicating a large opportunity in literacy. There 

are a number of steps the school is in the process of implementing to improve reading 

instruction as a school. First, the School Leader and Director of Teaching and Learning 

are both reading Powerful Literacy in the Montessori Classroom to better understand how 

the science of reading and the Montessori method are aligned. Second, the school is 

considering pursuing LETRS training for staff in alignment with the READ Act. Third, the 

school is watching closely for the evidence based curriculum that will be recommended 

from the Department of Education in January 2025. Administration is being mindful of 

how to meet these new requirements within the Montessori context. It was suggested in 

an interview with staff that the school should consider pursuing Professional 

Development for all staff that reinforces following a scope and sequence within a 

Montessori environment, and demonstrates how the Montessori curriculum meet the 

state standards every year. Some PD, or establishing clear expectations, in this area 

would be in alignment with the other efforts in the works at the school. Osprey Wilds will 

follow up on the refinements to the school’s literacy instruction at our next visit. 

 

Operations Indicator Area 1.4 Special Education: Does the school protect the rights of students 

with disabilities and implement a program that appropriately serves their needs? 

 

 The school is in the beginning steps of formulating a multi-tiered system of supports 

(MTSS), with the administration emphasizing its development being a huge priority for 

the school. They are currently working on creating a MTSS handbook with instructional 

cycles, classroom support, and a process for collecting referrals and timeline. The 

Montessori lens of holistic being is the foundation for the MTSS approach at TRM. While 

a timeline for the rollout of this system is not set, the school is working toward refining 



 

 

the proposed approach during staff meetings. This way, there is intentionality in how 

staff are building the school’s approach to MTSS with administration. As they refine the 

handbook, teachers are considering how to implement the system in their context and 

their way. The intent is for the MTSS to be implemented fully in the 2024-2025 school 

year, though some portions will be implemented in part throughout this year. It is clear 

that a comprehensive approach to the MTSS model is well underway at the school. 

 

 Special Education and general education teachers are working to provide differentiated 

instruction in the Montessori setting. Teachers spoke to the ability to go backwards in 

the Montessori album when needed to help students fill in gaps in learning. The Special 

Education team is working on securing training for paras, as well as implementing all 

student IEP accommodations and modifications with fidelity. Montessori is a great space 

for differentiation, though it seems as though the implementation of this is still in 

development. The trainings in place to support staff, such as the scholarships at the 

Montessori Center of Minnesota, and the developing guidelines for MTSS are in 

alignment with helping teachers improve their skills in delivering interventions in the 

Montessori environment, and supporting differentiated instruction.  

 

Operations Indicator Area 3.2: Health & Safety: Is the school an effective steward of the health 

and safety of all students? 

 The school has obtained a locked refrigerator or a locked container in the refrigerator 

specifically for storing medication requiring refrigeration.  

 

Thank you again for hosting Osprey Wilds’ site visit. At our next site visit we are interested in 

learning more about the school’s work to focus on improving literacy instruction, particularly 

within the Montessori environment. Please let me know what questions you have about this 

feedback. We appreciate the work your team is doing to serve students and families in Elk River 

and at Three Rivers Montessori.  

 

Sincerely, 

 
 
 
 

Emily Edstrom Moore 

Authorizing Specialist, Academics 

Osprey Wilds, Charter School Division  

 

 

cc: Erin Anderson, Director of Charter School Authorizing 

 



Scheduled Start Time: 6:00 p.m

Actual Start Time: 6:06 p.m.

End Time: 8:14 p.m.

Ex-Officio Members present: Antonio Kuklok, 

Director

YES/NO Notes

O.2.2

Board reviews and discusses academic 

performance related to charter contract goals 

(Exhibit G).

OW expects boards will monitor progress toward 

its contractual academic goals at least four times 

/ year.

No 

The board reviewed the World's Best Work 

Force/ Annual Report that touched on the 

charter contract goals; however, there was no 

substantive discussion by the board.

O.2.2

Board reviews and discusses environmental 

education performance related to charter 

contract goals (Exhibit H) / Environmental 

Literacy Plan (ELP).

OW expects boards will monitor progress toward 

its contractual environmental education goals at 

least four times / year.

No Not a topic of discussion.

F.1.1

Board reviews and discusses the school's financial 

performance for the current school year, 

including current enrollment in relation to 

budgeted enrollment, and approves 

expenditures.

Yes 

Original budget was for enrollment of 169; 

however, due to much lower student 

enrollment, the Working Budget/Actual 

Enrollment currently is: 99/100.

O.2.1

Board training & development happens at the 

meeting or meaningful discussion / reflection 

occurs related to recent training attended by one 

or more board members. 

OW expects boards will participate in or discuss 

training at least four times / year.

No Not a topic of discussion.

O.2.2
The meeting complies with MN §13D, Open 

Meeting Law. (See details below.)
Yes

YES/NO Notes

O.2.2 MN §13D, Open Meeting Law Requirements:

O.2.2

Meeting time, date, and place (or access 

information, if virtual) is posted properly on 

school website and/or onsite at school.

MN §13D.04

Yes

Compliance Elements - Evident at Each Meeting

Key Contractual Performance Areas

Board member attendance: 5 of 7 = 70%

Osprey Wilds – Charter School Board Meeting Observation Form

Date of Board Meeting:  10/16/23

Observation by: Dan Jett

Others Present: Mindy Wachter, Finance Provider

A "YES" or "NO" below indicates whether or not the following were evident at the board meeting. Evaluation 

framework indicator areas are identified in the left column. 

O = Operations Performance Framework; F = Financial Performance Framework.

School Name: Three Rivers Montesssori School

Type of Meeting (Regular, Special, Emergency):  Regular

Page 1 of 3



O.2.2

If meeting includes board member 

participation via interactive technology (e.g. 

Zoom), it is done so consistent with MN §13D. 

Agenda appropriately notes participation via 

interactive technology, including the location 

of the individual(s), and all board members 

and members of the public can see and hear 

one another during the meeting.

MN §13D.02

N/A
All participants were physically present at this 

meeting.

O.2.2

A quorum is present when a the board 

meeting is convened and / or any item on the 

agenda is being considered.

MN §317A.235

Yes
5/7 board members were present when the 

board meeting was convened.

O.2.2

One set of board materials is available for 

public inspection.

MN §13D.01 Subd. 6

Yes

O.2.2

If closed, meeting is closed in accordance with 

MN §13D. Agenda notices statutory authority 

to close the meeting, board moves to close 

the meeting appropriately, board does not 

vote in closed session.

MN §13D.05

N/A The meeting was not closed.

O.2.2
Actions taken by board, including any 

amendments, are clearly articulated.
Yes This was consisently done.

O.2.2

Result of the vote is articulated by the board 

chair, including number of votes for and against if 

other than unanimous.

Yes This was consistently done.

O.2.3

Board engages in review of school leader 

performance throughout the school year.

OW expects boards will engage in school leader 

evaluation activities at least four times / year.

No Not at this meeting.

O.2.2

Board reviews and discusses the contractual 

Performance Improvement Plan (Exhibit S).

OW expects boards will monitor implementation 

of its contractual PIP at least four times / year.

No Not at this meeting.

O.2.2
Meeting follows approved agenda.

If no, provide detail .
Yes See note below.

O.2.2

Board meeting packet includes all materials 

relevant to the meeting agenda. 

Note any that were missing as appropriate.

Yes

O.2.1

Board composition complies with applicable law 

and school bylaws.

MN §124E.07 subd. 3(a)

Yes

O.2.2 Charter School Website Requirements:

Page 2 of 3



O.6.3

Directory information for members of the 

board of directors including affiliation (e.g. 

parent, teacher, community member) and 

contact information (at least email address).

MN §124E.07, subd. 8(b)

Yes

O.6.3

Minutes of meetings of the board of directors 

for at least one calendar year.

MN §124E.07, subd. 8(b)

Yes

O.6.3

Identifying and contact information for the 

school’s authorizer.

MN §124E.07, subd. 8(b)

Yes

O.6.3

Committee meeting time, place, and access 

information posted properly.

MN §13D.04

Yes

General Comments/Observations/Compliance Elements or Effective Practices Observed (e.g. Director 

Evaluation, Strategic Planning, Bylaw Changes, Policy Actions, etc.)

All board members actively participated in the meeting. It was noted that the board's bylaws will be reviewed 

by the board later in the school year. Increasing student enrollment is the major need of the school currently 

as is stability in the retention rates of students and staff members. Hopefully, the new apartment complex 

under construction will yield significant opportunities for the school to recruit students especially since the 

school is located so close to the new apartments. The board may consider either adding provisions to govern 

the district's credit card to the current purchasing policy; or, create a new policy specific to the district's credit 

card. Provisions such as the following can be specified in the policy: Dollar limit available on the card, named 

individuals authorized to use the credit card, purposes for which the card can be used, the process to be used 

to reconcile the card's charges monthly, among others.                                                                                 

Required Follow-Up:

There is no required follow-up to this meeting.

Page 3 of 3



Credit Card Policy
Date Created: 04/27/2020

Approved By: TRM Board of Directors
Date Approved: Unknown

 A purchase request form is completed for all credit card purchases and all purchase
request forms are approved and signed by the Executive Director, the appropriate
UFARS code will be documented in the online DIVVY platform and reviewed by the
finance company contracted by TRM for each transaction. The total of all amounts
coded must match the current billed amount on the invoice. 
 Original receipts for each purchase will be attached to the appropriate purchase
request form(s) in the order they appear on the invoice. 
 The coded and signed purchase request form will be submitted with the attached
receipts to the online platform DIVVY. If the purchase exceeds $5,000.00, board
approval and an additional signature from the Board Chair is required. If approved,
the Executive Director signs and dates the form. It is the combined responsibility of
the Director of Operations and the Executive Director to upload all purchase requests
and attached receipts to the DIVVY platform and audit for accuracy and
completeness twice monthly before the 15th and last day payment runs. 

 Three Rivers Montessori Credit Card Policy

GENERAL STATEMENT OF POLICY 

The TRM Board of Directors understands that purchases are made on a regular basis to
operate the school, maintain and/or improve the quality of supplies/materials for student
and employee use, and to meet the needs of all stakeholders. 

To do this, the use of a credit card is required in most situations. This policy defines the
procedure used by TRM administration when the school’s credit card is required for
purchases. 

AUTHORIZING A CREDIT CARD 

The Director and the Board Treasurer will review and sign the Credit Card Agreement
and complete the credit card application. The Director will disclose the credit limit at
least annually to the TRM Board of Directors. The Executive Director has authority to
authorize and distribute credit cards to appropriate staff. The Executive Director can
assign designated and limited credit limits within the online platform used, DIVVY. 

MAINTAINING A CREDIT CARD 

Credit card payments are processed twice a month on the 15th and last day of the
month. The cardholder(s) must adhere to the following: 

1.

2.

3.

Date Updated: 11/21/2023



Credit Card Policy Cont.

ADDITIONAL PLATFORMS FOR RECEIVING/MAKING PAYMENTS

Should TRM establish another form of receiving/making payments (i.e. Venmo, PayPal or
other similar platforms), the same individuals with access to the school’s bank account
information will also possess access to these accounts. Should funds be distributed via
this platform, the Executive Director would need to follow the same procedure as listed
above as for maintaining a TRM credit card (see steps 1 through 3 above). Funds received
will be available for viewing by those holding TRM checking account information. 
 
When a Director holding a credit card terminates employment from TRM, the credit card
is returned to the Board Treasurer. If a Director does not meet or accept the criteria for
receiving a credit card, money for TRM expenses is available through a Request for Check
Form.

4.  All hardcopy credit card purchase requests and attached original receipts are filed in
the A/P (Accounts Payable) monthly files in the Executive Director’s office. Noted on the
credit card purchase request form is the date the purchase request and original receipt
were uploaded to DIVVY to ensure timely processing of all credit card documentation
and for any audit purposes. Prior year files are moved to the locked cabinet with the
Director of Operations and files 2 years old are moved to a secure location in a locked
storage room at TRM. Historical files beyond 3 years are housed off site in a locked
storage unit and kept for a minimum of 10 years.

If these guidelines are not followed, discipline, restitution, and/or termination may result.
TRM maintains the right to revoke the card at any time. 



Consent Agenda Policy
Date Created: 10/18/2023

Approved By: Not yet approved
Date Approved: TBD

Consent Agenda Policy

I. PURPOSE

The purpose of this policy is to allow the use of a consent agenda.

II. GENERAL STATEMENT OF POLICY

In order for a more efficient administration of school board meetings, the school board
may elect to use a consent agenda for the passage of noncontroversial items or items of
a similar nature.

III. CONSENT AGENDAS

A. The Executive Director, in consultation with the school board chair, may place items on
the consent agenda. By using a consent agenda, the school board has consented to the
consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a consent agenda be
used, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon
request. If this request is made, the item in question will be moved to the discussion
section of the board agenda.

B. Consent items are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior
to school board action, are noncontroversial and/or similar in content, or are those items
which have already been discussed and/or explained and do not require further
discussion or explanation. Such agenda items might include ministerial tasks such as,
but not limited to, the approval of the agenda, approval of previous minutes, approval of
bills, approval of reports, etc. These items might also include similar groups of decisions
such as, but not limited to, approval of maintenance details for the school district
buildings and grounds or approval of various schedules.

C. Items shall be removed from the consent agenda by a timely request by an individual
school board member for independent consideration. A request is timely if made prior to
the vote on the consent agenda. The request does not require a second or a vote by the
school board. An item removed from the consent agenda will then be discussed and
acted on separately under the discussion section of the board agenda.

Date Updated: 



Consent Agenda Policy Cont.

D. Consent agenda items are approved en masse by one vote of the school board. The
consent agenda items shall be separately recorded in the minutes.

Legal References: Minn. Stat. § 123B.09, Subd. 7 (School Board Powers)

Cross References: MSBA/MASA Model Policy 203.2 (Order of the Regular School 
Board Meeting)
MSBA/MASA Model Policy 203.5 (School Board Meeting Agenda)
MSBA/MASA Model Policy 204 (School Board Meeting Minutes)








































































	7d460ee3-fb1f-4d8e-b808-7317d841a9dc.pdf
	cover.pdf
	NEW es.pdf
	dash.pdf
	bs.pdf
	is.pdf
	cash.pdf

	0b2a88c1-23ca-4a0c-b37b-0c22ae056e7d.pdf
	supp cover.pdf
	Receipt Listing Report with Det.pdf
	Payment Register by Bank and Ck.pdf


